#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARRIE MARIE BURNETT,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 85,635

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT, No. 94-02091

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Fla. Bar No. 194435 VIRGINIA M. BUCHANAN Fla. Bar No. 793116 Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie, Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell, P.A. Post Office Box 12308 Pensacola, Florida 32581 904/435-7132

and

DAWN WIGGINS HARE Fla. Bar No. 366668 Hare and Hare Post Office Box 833 Monroeville, Alabama 36461 205/575-4546

Attorneys for Petitioner

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Introduction

Petitioner, Carrie Marie Burnett, appellee below, seeks review of the decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, reported as <u>Department of Corrections v. Burnett</u>, 653 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). The decision below reversed a final judgment entered in petitioner's favor based upon the district court's decision in the companion case, <u>Department of Corrections v. McGhee</u>, 653 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)(case number 85,636 in this court). The district court certified to this court a question of great public importance and this court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

References to the record on appeal will be made by designation "R." A copy of the decision subject to review is appended to this brief at Tab 1, and a copy of the decision in the companion case, <u>Department of Corrections v. McGhee</u>, is appended at Tab 2.

#### Course of Proceedings in the Courts Below

Carrie Marie Burnett filed a complaint for damages, as amended, against the State of Florida, Department of Corrections (DOC), following her abduction and rape by two escaped Florida inmates, John Fred Woolard and Dempsey Alexander Bruner (R 1-4, 13-21). Burnett alleged that DOC was negligent in its care, supervision and control of Woolard and Bruner, and that, as a

result of such negligence, the inmates escaped from Holmes Correctional Institution (HCI) on May 24, 1990, and thereafter kidnapped Burnett from Brewton, Alabama, and transported her to Ocean Springs, Mississippi (R 3, 17-20). Burnett also alleged that DOC knew or should have known, prior to the escape, that Woolard and Bruner would commit violent crimes of the type committed upon plaintiff if they were permitted to escape (R 3, 20).

DOC moved to dismiss the complaint on the grounds that the complaint failed to allege sufficient ultimate facts showing a duty owed by DOC to plaintiff and that the acts and omissions alleged in the complaint involved planning-level activities for which sovereign immunity had not been waived (R 5, 34). DOC also argued that Alabama law should be applied (R 47). The trial court found that the state of Florida had the most significant relationship with the events and occurrences surrounding the claim and that Florida law, rather than Alabama law, applied (R 69-73). Applying Florida law, the trial court denied DOC's motion to dismiss on both legal duty and sovereign immunity grounds (R 73-74).

DOC thereafter admitted it was negligent for allowing the inmates to escape (R 427). The parties stipulated to certain facts and to the amount of Burnett's damages and agreed to allow the trial court to decide the issues of law, including the issue of DOC's legal duty to plaintiff (R 91-108). In its final

judgment, the trial court rejected DOC's argument that no legal duty was owed to Burnett and entered final judgment in Burnett's favor for the stipulated amount of her damages, \$1,300,000 (R 425-441).

The District Court of Appeal, First District, reversed. While the court determined that the trial court properly applied Florida law, the court held that the trial court erred by finding that DOC could be held liable for plaintiff's injuries caused by the escaped inmates. The district court relied upon its decision in the companion case, <u>Department of Corrections v. McGhee</u>, 653 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), which in turn was based upon the district court's earlier decision in <u>State of Florida, Department</u> <u>of Corrections v. Vann</u>, 650 So. 2d 658 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). As it did in <u>Vann</u> and <u>McGhee</u>,<sup>1</sup> the district court certified the following question to this court:

> WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS MAY BE HELD LIABLE AS A RESULT OF THE CRIMINAL ACTS OF AN ESCAPED PRISONER?

Burnett, 653 So. 2d at 1102.

#### Statement of Facts

The parties stipulated that DOC was negligent for allowing Woolard and Bruner to escape, subject to the trial court's determination whether DOC owed a legal duty of care to Burnett (R 102-04, 107, 427). The stipulated facts indicated that on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The <u>Vann</u> case is presently pending in this court under case number 85,415 and <u>McGhee</u> is pending under case number 85,636.

morning of May 24, 1990, officers Williams and McMahan transported six HCI inmates, including Woolard and Bruner, to the Bonifay office of Dr. David Pelt for eye examinations (R 94). Near the end of the last inmate eye examination, Bruner and Woolard subdued McMahan by using a knife fashioned from barbers' scissors which Bruner had obtained from the prison barber shop<sup>2</sup> and took McMahan's revolver (R 104). Woolard and Bruner then escaped and traveled to Brewton, Alabama (R 97).

DOC admitted the following acts of negligence and that its negligence was the proximate cause of the inmates' escape and the subsequent abduction of Burnett (R 102-04,  $\P\P$  60-73):

"60. The Defendant, State of Florida Department of Corrections, failed to provide adequate and secure detention for Dempsey Alexander Bruner and John Fred Woolard.

61. The Defendant, State of Florida Department of Corrections, failed to provide adequate security while transporting prisoners so as to minimize the risk of escape.

62. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to adequately search inmates for weapons that might aid in their escape.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior to the escape, barbers' shears were reported missing from the prison barber shop where Bruner worked (R 93). The inmates had not been searched when they left the prison to go to Dr. Pelt's office (R 95). A portion of the missing shears was located at the scene of the inmates' recapture in Mississippi (R 98).

63. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to properly inventory tools and instruments that might assist in an escape or be utilized as weapons against members of the public.

64. The State of Florida, Department of Corrections, failed to provided guards who were reasonably rested and trained in the safe and appropriate methods of searching, transporting and securing inmates.<sup>3</sup>

65. The State of Florida, Department of Corrections, failed to maintain an adequate and safe distance between the armed guards and inmates who were being transported and supervised.

66. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to have inmates properly restrained so as to preclude foreseeable attacks upon fellow inmates, guards or other members of the public.

67. The State of Florida, Department of Corrections failed to search the prison vehicle in which inmates were transported to preclude the concealment and subsequent utilization of any weapons or tools by inmates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>One of the transportation officers, Williams, had not completed transportation and escort classes and was working as a transportation officer on the day of the escape on the 7:30 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. shift, immediately after completing the 11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. shift (R 96).

68. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to properly train guards in the method and manner of transporting and guarding inmate[s] to preclude the escape of prisoners.

69. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to follow established communications systems to appropriately advise transportation officers of any outstanding risks of weapons concealed or transported by inmates.

70. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to seek assistance from other law enforcement officials as soon as reasonably practicable upon notice of an escape or attempted escape of inmates Woolard and Bruner.

71. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to warn the public of the risk of harm posed by Inmates Woolard and Bruner which could not be reasonably known or appreciated by members of the public, including the Plaintiff, who could foreseeably come into contact with the inmate[s] upon escape.

72. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to maintain reasonable custody and control over Defendant's firearms so that a firearm was misused and removed from Defendant's possession.

73. The State of Florida Department of Corrections failed to safely transport inmates to outside premises which Defendant knew or should have known were too small, confined, and restricted in exits to allow the safe and reasonable

transportation and guarding of the inmates while receiving medical care and treatment."

The stipulated facts also revealed that Bruner was born in Brewton, Alabama, and had been previously incarcerated in the Alabama prison system for the rape of an elderly white woman in Brewton (R 97, 99). Bruner was incarcerated at HCI for sexual battery, kidnapping and robbery and had been classified as a "close custody" inmate, the highest security classification available under DOC regulations (R 92). Bruner considered himself a "prisoner of war" in the Florida prison system and had been labeled by DOC as posing a high risk of escape (R 100). Woolard was an "habitual offender" with an extensive record of arrests and violent criminal activity, which included previous prison escapes and violence against a police officer with a weapon (R 93). Woolard also attempted previously to escape from Holmes Correctional Institution by producing falsified release documents (R 93).

The trial court's final judgment accurately summarizes the horrific events that followed the inmates' escape (R 426-27):

"In May 1990, Ms. Burnett was working as a night auditor at a motel, her night shift beginning at 11:00 p.m. and ending at 7:00 a.m. At approximately 4:45 a.m. on May 25, 1990, she heard the sound of a swinging door next to her desk and as she turned

The motel was located in Brewton, Alabama, where Burnett resided (R 92, 97).

around a black man [Bruner] came at her with a gun, grabbed her around the neck, and put the gun to her head. The man robbed her of the motel funds and abducted her from the motel so as to prevent her from calling the police. He threw her into an awaiting car where another man [Woolard] assisted him, and they fled with Ms. Burnett as their hostage. During the next 29-hour period she was repeatedly raped and sexually violated in every The attack included an approximate seven-hour possible manner. period during which she was sexually battered, both orally, vaginally and anally, physically and mentally tortured and threatened with her life, and forced to fondle the rapist's penis and perform oral sex on him while he forced himself upon her, sitting on her chest. While not being raped, during this 29-hour ordeal, Ms. Burnett was bound and gagged while she was being kidnapped to Mississippi. Her abductors told her they had just escaped from jail and they would never go back to jail alive.

Ms. Burnett was finally able to escape from her abductors 29 hours after they took her hostage. Although she survived the brutal rapes and mental torture, she suffered extensive vaginal and rectal tissue tearing and bruising, suffered an infection to her urinary tract, and suffered some residual left leg paralysis. Her psychological injuries include awaking at 4:47 a.m. every morning to the sound of that swinging door and nightmares three or four times a week, all associated with a choking sensation. She is afraid to be alone. She cannot work. She suffers severe

depression and cries frequently. The emotional and mental suffering and pain she experienced is beyond comprehension and will continue forever."

After Burnett escaped from her captors in Ocean Springs, Mississippi, the inmates fled into a nearby national park where they encountered Park Ranger Robert McGhee who stopped the inmates' vehicle for running a stop sign (R 98). The inmates shot and killed McGhee using Officer McMahan's revolver as the murder weapon (R 98).

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(as framed by the certified question)

WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS MAY BE HELD LIABLE AS A RESULT OF THE CRIMINAL ACTS OF AN ESCAPED PRISONER?

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**Conflict of laws**. The district court correctly determined that Florida law applied to the issues raised for review because Florida enjoyed all the significant contacts and relationships with respect to the issues of sovereign immunity and legal duty.

Legal duty. Under Florida's limited waiver of sovereign immunity, liability against a governmental agency is imposed in the same manner and to the same extent as liability against a private individual under similar circumstances. Under principles embodied by the <u>Restatement (Second) of Torts</u>, Florida courts have held that private parties who take charge of persons they know or should know are likely to cause bodily harm to others if not controlled are under a legal duty to exercise reasonable care to prevent those persons from doing harm. The same rule should be applied to the Department of Corrections to impose liability for criminal acts committed by escaped prisoners.

#### ARGUMENT

The district court below limited its decision to the conflict of laws and legal duty issues. Because the district court held that DOC owed no duty to plaintiff, thus entitling DOC to judgment in its favor, the district court did not decide the other issue presented by DOC for review--whether the trial court erred by failing to apportion fault to the intentional tortfeasors, Woolard and Bruner, under section 768.81, Florida Statutes (1989). <u>Burnett</u>, 653 So. 2d at 1103. Because no ruling has been obtained from the district court, this issue has not been addressed in this brief. If this court determines that the apportionment of fault issue should be considered, petitioner requests leave to file a supplemental brief.

# A. The district court correctly determined that Florida law applied.

As a threshold issue, the district court, relying upon its decision in <u>McGhee</u>, affirmed the trial court's ruling that Florida law, rather than Alabama law, controlled the issue of DOC's legal duty. <u>Burnett</u>, 653 So. 2d at 1102. DOC had contended in the trial court that Alabama law applied because, DOC argued, that state maintained the more significant contacts with the occurrence and events surrounding the case. DOC argued further that it enjoyed complete immunity from suit and owed no legal duty to plaintiff under Alabama law (R 47-51).

In support of its contention that Alabama law should have been applied to this case, DOC emphasized Burnett's place of residence and the location of her abduction, both Alabama, as the controlling choice of law factors (R 49). As the district court in <u>McGhee</u> correctly observed, however, DOC's analysis was erroneous because it focused upon the significant contacts with respect to the case as a whole, rather than the significant contacts applicable to the particular issues under consideration, sovereign immunity and duty. <u>McGhee</u>, 653 So. 2d at 1093.

Section 146 of the Restatement provides:

In an action for personal injury, the local law of the state where the injury occurred determines the rights and liabilities of the parties, unless, with respect to the particular issue, some other state has a more significant relationship under the principles stated in § 6 to the occurrence and the parties, in which event the local law of the other state will be applied.

<u>Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws</u> § 146 (1971)(emphasis supplied). In <u>Stallworth v. Hospitality Rentals, Inc.</u>, 515 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the court followed section 146 of the Restatement and stated:

> The Restatement's significant relationships test does not require the court to evaluate the recited contacts with a view to determine which state's local law should be applied to all issues in the case as a whole; rather, the contacts must be evaluated with respect to the particular issue under consideration.

Id. at 413 (emphasis supplied).

DOC's emphasis upon the location of Burnett's residence and the situs of her abduction, Alabama, was misplaced because Burnett's residence and the location of her abduction were unrelated to the issues of sovereign immunity and legal duty, the only issues raised by DOC's amended motion to dismiss. As the district court correctly found in <u>McGhee</u>:

> DOC's immunity was determined by deciding whether its conduct in allowing the inmates to escape could result in liability for the criminal conduct of the escapee[s]. A11 facts relevant to the issue of immunity and duty were centered in the state of Florida, and of Mississippi the state had no relationship to any of DOC's activities giving rise to its potential liability.

<u>McGhee</u>, 653 So. 2d at 1093. The same rationale controls this case.

The trial court also found that application of Alabama law would be contrary to the public policy of the state of Florida because Alabama has not waived sovereign immunity, and under Alabama law, a person injured as a result of the negligence of a governmental entity is limited to restricted recovery from a nonjudicial forum (R 72). The trial court cited <u>Wal-Mart Stores v.</u> <u>Budget Rent-A-Car</u>, 567 So. 2d 918 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 581 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 1991), and <u>Beattey v. College Centre</u> <u>of Finger Lakes, Inc.</u>, 613 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 4th 1992), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 626 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1993), in support of its finding (R 72-73). Review of the applicable case law and comparison of the

Florida and Alabama governmental liability schemes indicate that the trial judge's public policy analysis was eminently correct.

Florida courts may refuse to apply the laws of another jurisdiction when the laws of the foreign jurisdiction are repugnant to the public policy of this state. <u>Herron v.</u> <u>Passailaique</u>, 92 Fla. 818, 110 So. 539 (1926). "Public policy" is determined through "the law of the state, whether founded in or clearly implied from its constitution, statutes or judicial decisions." <u>White v. Bacardi</u>, 446 So. 2d 150, 156 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), <u>guashed on other grounds</u>, 463 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1985).

The law of this state, as derived from its constitution, statutes and judicial decisions, unequivocally establishes that Florida public policy favors waiver of sovereign immunity and just compensation for persons injured by the negligence of the state and its agencies and political subdivisions. <u>See</u> Art. X, § 13, Fla. Const. ("Provision may be made by general law for bringing suit against the state as to all liabilities now existing or hereafter originating."); § 768.28(1), Fla. Stat. (1989)("In accordance with s. 13, Art. X, State Constitution, the state, for itself and for its agencies or subdivisions, hereby waives sovereign immunity for liability for torts . . . ."); <u>Trianon Park Condominium Association, Inc. v. City of Hialeah</u>, 468 So. 2d 912, 917 (Fla. 1985)("The statute's [section 768.21's] sole purpose was to waive that immunity which prevented recovery for breaches of existing common law duties of care.").

In sharp contrast to Florida public policy, Alabama has not waived sovereign immunity. The Alabama Constitution, Article I, Section 14, prohibits suits against the state and provides "virtually complete sovereign immunity" for the state of Alabama. <u>Sanders Lead Company v. Levine</u>, 370 F. Supp. 115, 1117 (M.D. Ala. 1973). In Alabama "[t]he wall of 'governmental immunity' is almost invincible" and covers "almost every conceivable type of suit." <u>Hutchinson v. Board of Trustees of University of Alabama</u>, 288 Ala. 20, 256 So. 2d 281, 283-84 (1972).

Limited compensation is provided under Alabama law through a non-judicial forum known as the Alabama Board of Adjustment which maintains jurisdiction to hear and consider "claims for damages to the person or property growing out of any injury done to either the person or property by the state of Alabama or any of its agencies, commissions, boards, institutions or departments." Ala. Code § 41-9-62(a)(1). The power of the Board of Adjustment to compensate injury victims is severely limited, however, and the Board of Adjustment is directed by statute to determine in accordance with Alabama workers' compensation damages Ala. Code § 41-9-70. See Higgins v. Nationwide schedules. Mutual Insurance Co., 291 Ala. 462, 282 So. 2d 301 (1973)("We do not consider in a case of this kind [bodily injury] that the measure of an injured person's rights under the State Board of Adjustment Act is equivalent to that afforded by a common law action.)". Not only is recovery severely restricted under the

Board Adjustment procedure, the relief available compensates only persons injured by the state of Alabama and offers no relief to Ms. Burnett who was injured as a result of negligence committed by a Florida governmental agency.

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