IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 25 1995

CARRIE MARIE BURNETT,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 85,635

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LAURA RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 613959
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL - PL-01
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-9935

ATTORNEY FOR DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent DOC accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS MAY BE HELD LIABLE AS A RESULT OF THE CRIMINAL ACTS OF AN ESCAPED PRISONER?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The question before this court previously was addressed and answered in Reddish v. Smith, with subsequent clarification in Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Whaley. may not be held liable for the criminal acts of escaped prisoners because no common-law duty of care exists when the state exercises its police power to enforce the law or protect the public, Trianon Park Condominium Assoc. v. City of Hialeah, and the government's duty to protect citizens is a general duty owed to the public as a whole, and not to any individual citizen. Reddish; Whaley; Everton v. Willard. The Restatement (Second) of Torts §315(a) and §319 common-law principles pertaining to the duties which arise when one assumes custody of individuals with dangerous propensities do not apply to DOC's legislativelymandated conduct of housing and supervising prisoners in stateoperated institutions. While a special relationship between a government entity and a personal injury victim may give rise to a duty owed by the entity to the victim, no corollary duty of care owed to any individual member of the public can arise by virtue of DOC's custodial relationship with state prison inmates because the agency's supervision of prisoners is required by law pursuant to exercise of the state's police powers. DOC is not in the business of supervising prisoners for profit or any other type of benefit to itself, and Nova University v. Wagner therefore does not control the issue before the court.

This court should answer the certified question in the negative on a finding that DOC does not owe a duty of care to any

individual member of the general public with respect to its supervision of prisoners, and therefore may not be held liable for the criminal acts of escaped prisoners.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS MAY BE HELD LIABLE AS A RESULT OF THE CRIMINAL ACTS OF AN ESCAPED PRISONER?

The district court in this case, relying upon <u>Department of Corrections v. Vann</u>, 650 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), held that DOC cannot be held liable for the criminal acts of an escaped prisoner because it has no specific duty to protect individual members of the general public. The decision is correct, and this court should answer the certified question in the negative. ¹

In <u>Vann</u>, the court referenced the principles for determining government liability set forth in <u>Trianon Park Condominium</u>

<u>Association v. City of Hialeah</u>, 468 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1985). The principles relevant to the liability determination in this case are as follows:

For certain basic judgmental or discretionary governmental functions, there has never been an applicable duty of care. <u>Commercial</u>
<u>Carrier [v. Indian River County]</u>
317 So.2d legislative (Fla. 1979). Further, enactments for the benefit of the general do not automatically public create duty either individual independent to citizens or a specific class of citizens. Restatement (Second) of Torts §288 comment b (1964)

Third, there is not now, nor has there ever been, any common law duty for either a private person or a governmental entity to enforce the law for the benefit of an

Vann is presently pending before this court on the same certified question. Case No. 85,415. If this court answers the certified question in this case in the affirmative, DOC requests leave to file a supplemental brief which addresses the additional issues presented to the district court for review.

individual or a specific group of individuals. In addition, there is no common law duty to prevent the misconduct of third persons. See Restatement (Second) of Torts §315.

<u>Vann</u>, 650 So.2d at 660, quoting <u>Trianon</u>, 468 So.2d at 917-918.

The <u>Vann</u> court also recognized that "[a] governmental duty to protect its citizens is a general duty to the public as a whole, and where there is only a general duty to protect the public, there is no duty of care to an individual citizen which may result in liability." <u>Id.</u>, 650 So.2d at 660, quoting <u>Everton</u> <u>v. Willard</u>, 468 So.2d 936,938 (Fla. 1985).

Trianon, the court categorized governmental conduct according to the nature of the function and the duties of care applicable to each function. The court characterized Category II acts, those involving the state's exercise of its police power to enforce the law and protect the public, as governmental conduct for which no common-law duty of care has ever existed, and for which the general duty to protect the public does not extend to any particular citizen. Id., 468 So.2d at 920, 921. The court noted that this conduct is absolutely immune from tort liability except in narrow circumstances, as when police negligently operate a vehicle. See e.g. City of Pinellas Park v. Brown, 604 So. 2d 1222 (Fla. 1992).

The <u>Vann</u> court declined to categorize DOC's conduct of supervising prisoners, under the <u>Trianon</u> distinctions, on a conclusion that the duty issue was dispositive of the agency's liability. However, it is indisputable that DOC's legislatively-mandated obligation to house and supervise convicted criminals

during the course of their prison terms, <u>See</u> Chapter 944, Florida Statutes, entails exercise of the state's police powers. Under <u>Trianon</u>, no common-law duty of care has ever existed for this type of conduct, and the general duty to protect the public owed by DOC in the exercise of the state's police powers is a general duty which is owed solely to the public at large.

Judge Ervin's dissenting opinion in the district court decision in this case asks why Florida courts readily have applied the common-law special relationship principle set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Torts §315(b) to find a duty of care owed in those cases in which the state had custody of a victim, See e.g. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Whaley, 574 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1991), Kaisner v. Kolb, 543 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1989) and Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Yamuni, 529 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1988), but have declined to apply the corollary special relationship principle of §315(a) in cases in which the state had custody of an individual who caused injury to another. Section 315(a) states that a duty to control the conduct of a third person may arise if a "special relationship exists between the actor and the third person which imposes a duty upon the actor to control the third person's conduct."

Judge Ervin argued, on the basis of §315(a) as well as §319, pertaining to the duty owed by one who takes charge of a person having dangerous propensities, that DOC has an actionable duty to prevent inmates in its custody from causing bodily harm to others. He further argued that the §315(a) and §319 common-law

duty principles that courts have applied to find liability in cases in which private institutions assumed custody of dangerous individuals logically should be applied to DOC with respect to escaped inmates. Judge Ervin opined that the cases upon which Vann relied, Parker v. Murphy, 510 So.2d 990 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), Bradford v. Metropolitan Dade County, 522 So.2d 96 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) and George v. Hitek Community Control Corp., 639 So.2d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), were wrongly decided because they did not apply the common-law special relationship duty principles, and that Reddish v. Smith, 468 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1985), decided on sovereign immunity grounds, does not provide support for the proposition that DOC has no specific duty to protect individual members of the public from escaped inmates.

This court in Reddish, squarely addressed and answered the question posed by the district court in this case, and Reddish should be deemed controlling precedent. While initially held the plaintiff's claims for negligent classification and assignment of the escaped prisoner were barred by sovereign immunity under the Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County discretionary-operational analysis, the court analyze whether, even if operational-level proceeded to negligence had been alleged, the claims would have been barred. The court stated as follows:

Moreover, even if it could be said that the decisions complained of in this case were on the operational level, we would hold that there can be no liability imposed on the Department of Corrections. The waiver of sovereign immunity statute makes clear that it is just that: a waiver of the absolute immunity previously barring the imposition of

any liability upon the state. As we hold in the decision made today in Trianon Park Condominium Association v. City of Hialeah, 468 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1985), the waiver statute created no new causes of action not previously recognized by common-law principles of tort responsibility.

The statute waiving sovereign immunity provided in pertinent part as follows:

Actions at law against the state or any of subdivisions to recover agencies or damages in tort for money damages against the state or its agencies or subdivisions for injury or loss of property, personal injury, or death caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the agency or subdivision while acting within the scope official employment of his circumstances in which the state or such agency or subdivision, if a private person, would be liable to the claimant in accordance with the general laws of this state, may be limitations prosecuted the subject to specified in this act.

(1977) (emphasis Fla. Stat. 768.28(1), The emphasized language makes supplied) clear that recovery is to be allowed only to the extent that such is available against a private person for the same kind of conduct as that committed by a state employee and charged as being tortious. Thus, where a Department of Corrections driver negligently operates his van while transporting prisoners thereby causing a collision resulting in injuries to another, a body of tort exists by which liability can be established based on the negligent conduct of the driver. This kind of activity is covered by of sovereign immunity. But waiver decision to transfer a prisoner from one to another corrections facility inherently governmental function not arising out of an activity normally engaged in by private persons. Therefore the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity does not apply.

Reddish, 468 So.2d 932.

In <u>Whaley</u>, the court implicitly referenced the above language in clarifying that "<u>Reddish</u> is further distinguished

because the department of corrections has no specific duty to protect individual members of the public from escaped inmates Id., 574 So.2d at 102-103 n.1. DOC owes no duty to particular members of the general public because its function in state's prison population is an inherently managing the governmental function for which no common-law duty of care has ever existed. See State, Office of State Attorney v. Powell, 586 So.2d 1180 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), noting that state attorneys are law enforcement officers and a law enforcement officer's duty to protect citizens is a general duty owed to the public as a whole. The illustrations to Restatement §319, referring solely to the duty owed by private hospitals or sanitariums, support the conclusion that the duty of care discussed in that section does not apply to public institutions which are required by law to take custody of dangerous individuals for the benefit and protection of the society at large.

Section 768.28(5), Florida Statutes (1989) provides that the state and its agencies ... shall be liable for tort claims in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual "under like circumstances." The state's exercise of its police power to house and supervisie convicted criminals, in order to protect the public and enforce the law, is distinguishable from the conduct of private entities which either gratuitously or for a fee assume the care and custody of individuals. DOC's conduct is not "like" the conduct of a private entity. The court in Nova University v. Wagner, 491 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1986), expressly noted that the university took children into its educational program "for a

fee," and held that "a facility in the business of taking charge of persons likely to harm others has an ordinary duty to exercie reasonable care in its operation to avoid foreseeable attacks by its charges on third parties." Id., 491 So.2d at 1118. See also Garrison Retirement Home Corp. v. Hancock, 484 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (private adult congregate living facility cared for elderly individuals for a fee and was held to owe a duty of care to the victim of one of the residents).

The <u>Garrison</u> court explicitly referenced <u>Restatement</u>

(Second) of Torts §324A in finding that the retirement home owed a duty of care to the victim. Section 324A states as follows:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of a third person or his things, is subject to liability to the third person for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to protect his undertaking....(e.s.)

To state the obvious, DOC is not "in the business" of caring Unlike a private business which can choose to for prisoners. assume or not assume responsibility for particular individuals, DOC cannot refuse to accept custody of inmates who might present an unacceptable risk to the agency. Florida law requires DOC to house and manage prisoners in state-operated institutions. DOC receives neither remuneration other benefit nor any for As expressly stated in §324 and as performing these duties. implicitly recognized in Nova University v. Wagner, the commonlaw has distinguished between the duty owed by entities which either volunteer to assume custody of others, or profit from assuing such responsibility, and those which do not.

Because the state's conduct in supervising prisoners pursuant to law is distinguishable from the conduct of private entities which assume the care and supervision of individuals for a fee, the common-law duties of care discussed in Restatement §315(a) and §319 do not apply.

For the above reasons, the conclusion of this court in and the district courts' conclusions in Parker v. Reddish, Murphy, Bradford v. Metropolitan Dade County, and George v. Hitek Community Control Corp., that no duty of care is owed to protect individual members of the general public from escaped prisoners, Petitioner argued that the decision in George v. is correct. improperly blurred the distinction between sovereign Hitek immunity and legal duty analyses. To the contrary, the George court accurately analyzed the question of governmental duty by first categorizing the negligent acts at issue according to the Trianon distinctions, and then proceeding to deduce the absence of a common-law duty of care from the inherently governmental nature of the conduct at issue, and the absence of a statutory duty of care from the language of the applicable statutes. George v. Hitek thus is the analysis that <u>Tr</u>ianon dictates. embodies both the correct analysis as to legal duty in the context of a governmental entity's conduct, and the correct outcome as to the question before this court.

Finally, it should be noted that if <u>no</u> duty of care exists with respect to DOC's supervision of prisoners, then the foreseeable zone of risk analysis discussed in <u>McCain v. Florida</u>

Power Corp., 593 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1992) cannot apply.

If this court determines that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative because DOC owes a duty to individual members of the public pursuant to the Restatement principles set forth in §315(a) and §319, then DOC did not owe a duty of care to Burnett under the facts of this case.

Section 319 of the Restatement (second) does not address the issue of to whom a reasonable duty of care is owed when an entity assumes control of a dangerous person. However, courts in other jurisdictions have noted that prison officials are not absolute insurers of the public's safety. See Wilson v. State, Department of Public Safety and Corrections, 576 So.2d 490 (La. 1991).

In <u>Wilson</u>, the court, in a case involving a robbery committed by an escaped inmate, analyzed the scope of the duty owed by prison officials as follows:

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